COURT OF APPEALS

2015 MAR 12 PM 1: 14

STATE OF WASHINGTON

E

NO. 46955-3-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KATHRYN A. LANDON, APPELLANT.

V.

THE HOME DEPOT, RESPONDENT.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BUSICK HAMRICK PALMER PLLC STEVEN L. BUSICK Attorneys for Appellant/Defendant

By Steven L. Busick, WSBA #1643 Busick Hamrick Palmer PLLC PO Box 1385 Vancouver, WA 98666 360-696-0228

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The trial court erred in denying Kathryn Landon's Motion to Vacate Judgment on the Jury's Verdict and remand the case to the Department of Labor and Industries, to decide the case in the first instance as to whether she had an occupational disease or infection arising out of her employment at The Home Depot?

Issues pertaining to the first Assignment of Error

- 1. Did the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals and the Superior Court for Cowlitz County have jurisdiction to hear Kathryn Landon's appeal, the Department of Labor and Industries not having initially decided the claim on the merits?
- 2. Could the parties stipulate to the jurisdiction of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals and the Superior Court for Cowlitz County to hear the appeal on the merits when the Department of Labor and Industries did not first decide the issue?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant-plaintiff, Kathryn Landon, had been employed by The Home Depot since October 8, 2008. She was part of Merchandising Execution Team, referred to as MET, going to various Home Depot stores, working in the different departments, setting and resetting displays of merchandise. Ms. Landon worked on the A Team which consisted of 20 members who would meet at a particular Home Depot store, and then break down into groups of four to five members per department. (Clerk's Paper, No. 5, Certified Appeal Board Record, Kathryn Landon, December 6, 2012. Direct, Page 10. Lines 9, 11, 13 and 24; and page 12. line 21)

On June 1, 2010, Kathryn Landon was working with her team at the Longview. Washington, store in the electrical department with four co-workers doing a lighting reset, consisting of light bulbs, fluorescent lighting, flush mount casings, and chandeliers. Her group had to reset the shelving, which means to take everything out, reset the shelving, and put in all new product. A lot of times Ms. Landon would have to get down on her belly to get underneath the shelving to get fallen product out. Then, sweep the floor, but sometimes the shelving was too low for a broom. On that day, Ms. Landon was working on the floor and started scratching her leg. She stopped work and started scratching some more. She kept working and

scratching her leg, and started thinking she had a bug bite of some sort. She was too far from the restroom, wanted to get her job done, and decided to wait until break to check it out. (CABR, Landon-Direct, page 14, lines 7, 9, 11, and 20; page 15, line 15; and page 16, lines 3 and 19)

Kathryn Landon was having a tingling and tickling sensation just above the knee on her left leg, where she was scratching through her jeans. Ms. Landon is 5 feet 4 inches tall, and at the time she weighed 150 to 155 pounds. Ms. Landon was working alongside Scott Baker, another member of the MET team. A half hour later on break, Ms. Landon went to the restroom and saw a bug bite 2 1/2 inches above her left knee. The bug bite was red like a pin had poked her. The blood was smeared a little from scratching it, and there was a small welt around the bite. (CABR, Landon-Direct, page 16, line 19; page 17, lines 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 22 and 25; page 18, lines 2, 4, 9, 14, and 18)

In the restroom, Ms. Landon looked through her jeans to make sure there were no spiders, and took them off and actually shook them out, but did not find anything. In the break room, Ms. Landon told Scott Baker it was a bug bite, and they went back to work after the break. Scott Baker worked at The Home Depot on the MET team from February 2010 until December 2011. On June 1, 2010, working with Kathy Landon, doing an

electrical reset moving racks, down on the floor sweeping and cleaning, Ms. Landon said she felt like she had been bitten just above the knee on the left leg. Mr. Baker told her that if it was a spider bite she needed to be very concerned, because he had been bitten by a brown recluse and had gotten very sick. (CABR, Landon-Direct, page 18, line 20; page 20, lines 5 and 7, and Baker-Direct, page 63 lines 7, 9, 11, and 17; and page 64. lines 3, 11, 16, and 19; and page 65. line 6)

Working at The Home Depot there are spiders, mice, rats, and birds in almost all of the stores, and they have traps in almost all of The Home Depots for mice. In the garden department, they carry bird and grass seed which is a food source for mice and birds. A couple of weeks later, Ms. Landon showed Scott Baker the bug bite. Ms. Landon was wearing pedal pushers that day, and was able to pull them up and show him. Mr. Baker noticed a small black mark about the size of a pencil lead, and it looked like something was in there, but he did not know whether it was a scab or something that was left over. It was like she had been poked, something like a bite would have left, but there was not anything there that needed immediate attention. (CABR, Baker-Direct, page 66, line 24; page 67, line 2; page 68, line 26; page 69, line 22: and page 70, line 23)

At the time of the bug bite on June 1, 2010, Kathryn Landon could not tell if the bleeding was from the bite or scratching, and she did not seek medical attention. She put the bug bite in the back of her mind and continued working. A week or so later, Ms. Landon started getting a rash. She had heard about rashes and spider bites, and started to get a little concerned. Then, she came down with flu like symptoms with a sore throat and runny nose, which lasted a week, and she missed a couple of days work. The rash was getting worse. Ms. Landon was getting concerned, and went ahead in July and made an appointment with Sandy Niehm, her primary care provider since 2005. By the time she was able to get into see Sandy Niehm, it was the first part of August, and the rash was gone. (CABR. Landon-Direct, page 21, lines 2, 13, 21, and 25; and page 22, lines 3, 11.

Sandy Niehm is a family nurse practitioner with Bachelors of Nursing from Eastern Oregon College and a Master's of Science and Nursing from Gonzaga University. She is certified by the National Board of Nurse Practitioners, has been a nurse for 40 years, and been with the Vancouver Clinic as a nurse practitioner for 13 years. On August 10, 2010, Kathryn Landon presented herself to Ms. Niehm with a bug bite for some time on her left thigh with continued itching and slight redness, but no sign

of infection. Ms. Landon had noticed a red dot in the lateral aspect of the left thigh approximately three months ago, which became slightly scabbed and appeared irritated, but symptoms had resolved. A rash had been present for the last three months intermittently. She had symptoms of dizziness, but no other symptoms. On examination, Ms. Niehm found a pinpoint erythematous (red) lesion, which was non tender. There was no redness around the lesion. Ms. Niehm assessed, or diagnosed, an adverse reaction to an insect bite with intermittent dizziness, and prescribed a hydrocortisone cream two to three times a day with Benadryl cream as needed for itching. (CABR, Sandy Niehm, November 29, 2012, Direct, Page 8, lines 12 and 20; page 10, line 23; page 12, lines 2, 16, and 23; page 13, lines 11 and 24; and page 14, line 5)

After seeing Ms. Niehm on August 10, 2010, Kathryn Landon came down with flue like symptoms again and went back and saw another doctor. She had a sinus infection, sore throat, swollen glands, fever, and body aches and pains, which lasted ten days. She had never had the flu like this before. Ms. Landon continued working at The Home Depot, and in October 2010 started developing headaches. She mentioned to her supervisor that she was getting a lot of headaches, but just chalked it up to stress before the holidays. From January to June of 2011, Kathryn Landon would get dizzy and lose

equilibrium, and finally went back to Sandy Niehm. (CARB, Landon-Direct, page 22, line 11; page 23, lines 6, 8, and 11; page 24, line 14; page 25, line 12; and page 26, lines 12 and 21).

Because Ms. Landon was experiencing dizziness and headaches. Sandy Niehm ordered a magnetic resonance imaging, or MRI, of the brain that was performed on June 28, 2011. The MRI showed white matter lesions bilaterally suggestive of multiple sclerosis. Ms. Niehm recommended a neurological consultation, and on August 11, 2011, Ms. Landon saw a Board Certified neurologist, Ann Hamburg, MD, Dr. Hamburg ordered a battery of tests to learn the nature of the white matter changes. One of the tests performed, the serum Lyme test, or ELISA. which tests the person's antibody response to Lyme disease, was positive for Lyme disease. After a spinal tap was performed to verify that the Lyme disease had not affected her central nervous system, Dr. Hamburg diagnosed Lyme disease based on the abnormal limited lab value with the blood serum. Lyme disease is considered an infection easily treated with safe antibiotics. and Dr. Hamburg prescribed 100 milligrams of doxycycline, twice a day for 21 days, and referred Ms. Landon back to Sandy Niehm for further care. (Niehm –Direct, page 16, line 11; page 17, lines 13 and 22; page 18, line 4; Dr. Hamburg, December 4, 2012, Direct, page 4, line 11; page 5; line 5,

page 7, line 7; page 9, line 25; page 12, lines 3, 8, and 22; page 16, lines 17 and 25; and page 17, line 4).

Kathryn When Sandy Niehm saw Landon back on September 16, 2011, to discuss the diagnosis on Lyme disease, Ms. Niehm learned that for the first seven to ten days Ms. Landon was taking doxycycline she felt better. She had one pill left, and now has multiple symptoms and has never felt worse. Ms. Niehm restarted her on antibodies using Ceftin. Ms. Niehm was currently treating three patience with Lyme disease who acquired Lyme disease from tick bites. Rodents, deer, and birds carry ticks in the Northwest. Ms. Niehm has treated a total of six patients with Lyme disease. People do not always feel a tick bite, and tick bites can burn, itch, and may be painful depending on the person's sensitivity. Symptoms of Lyme disease are pain, swelling, redness, and fever. There can be an erythematous areas around the tick bite, depending on how long it has been embedded, or if it has been embedded. (CABR, Niehm-Direct, page 23, lines 3, 7, 12, 14, 17, and 20; page 24, line 4; page 26, line 3; Cross, January 22, 2013, page 31, line 20; page 33, lines 3, and 16; and page 34, lines 3 and 8)

On September 16, 2011, Sandy Niehm referred Ms. Landon to Sally Williams, MD, an infectious disease specialist. Ms. Niehm understood that

Dr. Williams performed a Western Blot test, and Lyme disease was not detected. The usual treatment for Lyme disease is antibiotic therapy. The patients Ms. Niehm has treated for Lyme disease have been on antibiotics for longer than six months. Ms. Niehm has continued to treat Ms. Landon, and her symptoms are consistent with other patients she has treated with Lyme disease. Based on Ms. Niehm's treating Ms. Landon over the past two years, and with her symptoms and the research Ms. Niehm has done, Kathryn Landon does have Lyme disease as a result of a tick bite on June 1, 2010. (CARB, Niehm-Direct, page 26, line 25; page 27, lines 5 and 12; Cross, page 35, lines 6 and 19; page 36. line 15; and page 37. lines 11 and 14)

On October 25, 2011, Kathryn Landon also started treatment with Lindsay Roberson, a naturopathic physician in Longview, Washington. Dr. Roberson attended Southwest College of Naturopathic Medicine and Health Sciences in Tempe, Arizona, one of four accredited naturopathic colleges in the United States, and completed their four year curriculum. Dr. Roberson is Board Certified in Naturopathic Medicine, and has been in practice since June of 2009. As a naturopath, Dr. Roberson prescribes medication, but also works with nutrition, herbs, vitamins, and minerals to improve her patient's health. A large percentage of her practice is treating

Lyme disease and chronic infections. (CABR, Dr. Roberson, November 6, 2012, Direct, page 3, lines 16 and 18; page 4, lines 1, 4, and 19; page 5, line 6; page 6, lines 6 and 17; and Cross, page 53, line 25)

Lyme disease is a bacterial infection caused by the bacteria Borrelia Burgdorferi, the most common species of Lyme disease in the United States. Borrelia Burgdoferi is a spirochete shaped bacteria that infects ticks. When ticks feed on animals, such as deer, mice and humans, the bacteria is transmitted to the host. The spirochete bacteria has a life cycle within the host of seven to ten days, but can go into hibernation, change its form, and become a cyst, where it does not feed or reproduce. The cyst hides in the immune system, so that immune system does not recognize it and react to it. Then, when the host becomes weekend, the spirochete bacteria comes out and replicates itself. (CABR, Dr. Roberson-Direct, page 11, line 18; page 12, lines 2, 7, 14, and 20; page 13, line 5)

The symptoms of Lyme disease depend on each person. Initially, the patient may experience a rash, although it does not always occur. Patients may have flu like symptoms, swollen glands, aching body, fatigue, headaches, and migratory joint pain. Lyme disease is treated with antibiotics, usually for long periods of time, which are rotated every so many weeks. Treatment is also with diet with a low sugar and gluten free

diet, where the patient is consuming a lot of vegetables, clean protein, and fruit. Sugar is very inflammatory to the body, and also suppresses the immune system. Giving her antibiotics kills the good bacteria as well as the bad, and Dr. Roberson recommended that Ms. Landon stay on antibiotics until she was symptom free for at least two months. (CABR, Dr. Roberson-Direct, page 13, line 12; page 16, lines 7, 11, and 13; page 20, lines 12 and 17)

Dr. Roberson continued to treat Ms. Landon through July 26, 2012. Since Ms. Landon came to her with a diagnosis of Lyme disease, Dr. Roberson did not have her tested. Ms. Landon was still experiencing the symptoms of Lyme disease, and she still had the infection from Borrelia Burgdorferi. Dr. Roberson would like to remove the antibiotics and retest her, but she has not been symptom free, and that is not the wise thing to do. The treatment and adjustment of antibiotic medication that Ms. Landon has received is supportive of the diagnosis of Lyme disease. (CABR, Dr. Roberson-Direct, page 44, line 14: page 50, lines 7 and 9; Cross. page 53, line 6; Redirect, page 60, line 25; page 61, line 8)

By Order and Notice dated March 9, 2012, the Department of Labor and Industries denied Kathryn Landon's claim because it was not filed within one year of the date of injury on June 1, 2010. Then, on

May 11, 2012, the Department of Labor and Industries issued on Order and Notice affirming the order of March 9, 2012. On May 15, 2012, Kathryn Landon through her attorney appealed to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals maintaining that claimant has an occupational disease or infection pursuant to RCW 51.08.140, and not an industrial injury. The statute of limitations for an occupational disease or infection is two years pursuant to RCW 51.28.055, as opposed to one year for an industrial injury pursuant to RCW 51.32.050. At no time did the Department of Labor and Industries ever consider whether Ms. Landon's claim was an occupational disease or infection proximately caused by her employment at The Home Depot. (CABR, pages 49, 50 and 51)

Kathryn Landon's appeal to the Department order of May 11, 2012. proceeded to an evidentiary hearing before an industrial appeals Judge at the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals pursuant to the Interlocutory Order Establishing Litigation Scheduled dated September 25, 2012. Kathryn Landon, Scott Baker, Sandy Niehm, RNP, Anne Hamburg, MD, and Lindsay Roberson, ND, testified for claimant, and James Leggett, MD, testified for the employer. Dr. Leggett, an infectious disease expert at Providence Medical Center in Portland, Oregon, only examined Ms. Landon once on December 5, 2012, at the request of the employer's

attorney pursuant to a CR 35 exam. (CABR, pages 62-65; Dr. Leggett, January 7, 2013, Direct, Page 6, lines 9, 20, and 22; and page 7, line 7)

Dr. Leggett testified that the ELISA, administered August 18, 2011, was positive, but the ELISA performed on October 14, 2011, after Ms. Landon had already started antibiotics therapy. was negative. The ELISA tests the patient's antibody response to Lyme disease. If the patient is treated early with antibodies, their antibody response may be reduced or curtailed. Because the second ELISA was negative, the Western Blot test was not performed. Without the Western Blot test being performed, Dr. Leggett could not diagnose Lyme disease. The diagnosis of Lyme disease requires a clinical diagnosis, as well as a positive Western Blot Test. Mr. Landon's symptoms are similar to symptoms of Lyme disease, but no clinician had documented the bulls eye rash which appears 80% of the time with Lyme disease. Dr. Leggett has not treated anyone with Lyme disease in over a year. (CABR-Dr. Leggett-Direct, page 12, lines 5, 10, 16, and 23; Cross, page 30, line 22; page 32, lines 10 and 12; page 39, line 22; page 40, lines 8 and 21; page 42, line 9; page 43, line 1: page 44, line 7; and Dr. Hamburg-Direct, page 14, line 8)

Though the question of whether Kathryn Landon had an occupational disease or infection had never been considered by the

13

Department, the Board judge, after deciding that the claim for occupational disease was timely filed within the two year statute of limitations, went on to decide that Ms. Landon did not have an occupational disease or infection within the meaning of RCW 51.08.140, rather than remand the case back to the Department to decide the issue in the first instance. That decision was adopted by the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals, and Ms. Landon filed her appeal in Superior Court for Cowlitz County. The matter proceeded to a jury trial, and the jury affirmed the Board. Ms. Landon then timely filed her Motion to Vacate Judgment on Verdict and Remand to the Department of Labor Industries for further action, namely whether she had an occupational disease or infection arising naturally and proximately from the distinctive conditions of her employment at The Home Depot. The motion was denied, and Kathryn Landon has appealed to the Court of Appeals. Division Two, maintaining that the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals and the Superior Court of Cowlitz County did not have jurisdiction to decide whether she had an occupational disease or infection. (CABR, pages 2 and 34-37. Clerk's Papers. Numbers 16, 17, 19 and 25)

ARGUMENT

The Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals only has appellate jurisdiction to hear appeals from a final decision of the Department of Labor and Industries pursuant to RCW 51.52.060. The Superior Court only has appellate jurisdiction to hear appeals from a final decision and order of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals pursuant to RCW 51.52.110.

Because the Board of Industrial Insurance jurisdiction is purely statutory, the Board must satisfy itself that it has appellate jurisdiction to hear an appeal of an aggrieved person before it can proceed to hear and determine the claim of that person. If upon examination of the appeal, the Board finds that the Department of Labor and Industries has failed to make the initial determination on the claim, it must decline to grant the appeal. *Callihan v Dept. of Labor and Indus.*, 10 Wn. App. 153, 153, 516 P.2d 1073 (1973). Here, once the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals decided that Kathryn Landon had filed her claim for occupational disease or infection within two years pursuant to RCW 51.28.055, it should have declined to hear the appeal on the merits, and remanded the claim to the Department to make the initial decision.

In *Lenk v Dept. of Labor and Indus.*, 3 Wn. App. 977, 983, 478 P. 2d 761 (1970), Lenk contended that when the Department of Labor and

Industries rejected his claim it did not consider the extent of the resulting effects of the exposure, so that when the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals found that his arthritis condition was not causally related to the industrial exposure to creosote, it actually determined the extent of his disability which was not before the Board. In reversing the trial court. *Lenk v. Dept. of Labor and Indus.*, 3 Wn. App. at page 982, held that it is not disputed that the Board and Superior Court's jurisdiction is appellate only, and for the Board and trial court to consider matters not first determined by the Department, would usurp the prerogatives of the Department. the agency vested by statute with original jurisdiction.

In *Hanquet v. Dept. of Labor Indus.*, 75 Wn. App. 657, 879 P. 2d 326 (1994), Hanquet contended that denying an exclusion for coverage under the Worker Compensation Act by the Department under one section prohibited the Board from considering another section to deny coverage which the Department had not first considered. The Court of Appeals agreed and held that if a question is not passed upon by the Department. it cannot be reviewed either by the Board or the Superior Court. *Hanquet v. Dept. of Labor and Indus.*, 75 Wn. App. at page 664.

The issue of subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time, even on appeal. *Gilbertson v. Dept. of Labor and Indus.*, 22 Wn. App. 813,

815, 592 P.2d 665 (1979). In *Magge v. Rite Aid*, 167 Wn. App. 60, 277 P.3d I (2012), though both parties entered into a stipulation seeking to limit the scope of review in the appeal to the Board, the parties cannot stipulate to jurisdiction. Subject matter jurisdiction does not turn on an agreement of the parties. Either the tribunal has subject matter jurisdiction to decide the case, or it does not. *Magge v. Rite Aid*, 167 Wn. App. at page 75. There, assuming the Board exceeded its scope of review by earlier addressing whether Magee's claim constituted an occupational disease, because Magee did not challenge the decision on appeal of the earlier order in a prior proceeding, the decision was final and binding, and Magee could not now claim that she had an occupational disease. *Magge v. Rite Aid*, 167 Wn. App. at page 76.

The facts in *Marley v Dept. of Lubor and Indus.*, 125 Wn.2d 533, 886 P.2d 189 (1994), are far different than the facts here. There, six years after the Department denied her claim, Marley sought to declare the Department's order void. The Department of Labor and Industries does not lack subject matter jurisdiction solely because it may lack authority to enter a given order. In other words, the Department may make the wrong decision, but that does not go to its jurisdiction to act. Here, the Department had not made a decision on whether to allow the claim for occupational

disease or infection, but only that the claim was not filed within one year of injury, and the Board and the trial court did not have jurisdiction to act.

Had the Department of Labor and Industries rejected the claim on the basis that Ms. Landon had not suffered an industrial injury in the course of her employment, the scope of revue before the Board would have included whether she had an occupational disease or infection. *In re Judith Burr*, BIIA Dec., 52,023 (1979). In *In re Rodney D. Williams*, Dckt. No. 12 7865 (August 12, 2013), the claimant appealed an order rejecting the claim for an industrial injury, because the claim was not filed within one year, as was the case here. There, the Board declined to consider whether the claimant sustained an occupational disease, and remanded the case back to the Department to consider the claim for occupational disease, which is what the Board should have done here.

Attorney Fees

Kathryn Landon maintains that if the decision of the Superior Court for Cowlitz County and the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals is reversed on appeal to the Court of Appeals, she should recover her reasonable attorney fees, as fixed by this court, before the Superior Court and Court of Appeals, and the fees of medical and other witnesses before the Board. RCW 51.52.130(1) Attorney and witness fees in court appeal provides:

If on appeal to the superior or appellate court from the decision and order of the board, said decision and order is reversed or modified and additional relief is granted to the worker or beneficiary. . . a reasonable fee for the services of the worker's or beneficiary's attorney shall be fixed by the court. . . . In the case of self-insured employers, the attorney fee fixed by the court, for services before the court only, and the fees of medical and other witnesses and the costs, shall be payable directly by the self-insured employer. RCW 51.52.130(1)

The Home Depot is a self-insured employer, and the statute applies to them.

The additional relief granted to Ms. Landon on remand to the Department of Labor and Industries would be to maintain her claim for occupational disease and have the Department decide that issue in the first instance. *Hi-Way Fuel Co. v Estate of Allyn*, 128 Wn. App. 351, 363, 115 P. 3d 1031 (2005); *Oien v Department of Labor & Indus.*, 74 Wn. App. 566, 571, 874 P. 2d 878 (1994)

Conclusion

The Order and Judgment of the Superior Court for Cowlitz County dated October 30, 2014, should be reversed and remanded to the Department

of Labor and Industries to decide whether Kathryn Landon has an occupational disease or infection arising naturally and proximately from the distinctive conditions of her employment at The Home Depot.