Case No. 46955-3-11

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KATHRYN A. LANDON,

Appellant,

V.

THE HOME DEPOT, INC.,

Respondent.

THE HOME DEPOT, INC.'S BRIEF

Lance M. Johnson, WSBA No. 37461 Of Attorneys for Respondent

Sather, Byerly & Holloway, LLP 111 SW Fifth Avenue, Suite 1200 Portland, OR 97204 - 3613 Telephone: 503-225-5858

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ms. Landon argues the Board and superior court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over her occupational disease claim because the Department denied the claim as untimely and did not address it on its merits. Subject matter jurisdiction is present *ab initio*. The arguments set forth by Ms. Landon are more properly construed as raising an error of law by the Board, not a jurisdictional issue. Ms. Landon failed to preserve any error of law issue at the Board or at the superior court. The superior court's Order should be affirmed.²

/// ///

¹ The Superior Court also granted defendant's motion to strike documents Ms. Landon had included with her motion that were not part of the Certified Appeal Board Record.

² Ms. Landon did not appeal the Judgment on Verdict to the appellate court.

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The superior courts review Board decisions *de novo* on the certified appeal board record (designated as the CABR at trial). RCW 51.52.115; *Elliott v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 151 Wn. App. 442, 445, 213 P.3d 44 (2009). On review, the Board's decision is prima facie correct. The party challenging the decision bears the burden of proof. *McClelland v. FIT Rayanier, Inc.*, 65 Wn. App. 386, 390, 828 P.2d 1138 (1992). A superior court may substitute its own findings and decision if it determines, from a preponderance of the evidence, the Board's findings and decision are incorrect. *Id.*

The Washington Court of Appeals reviews the superior court's decision in a workers' compensation case under the ordinary standard of civil review. RCW 51.52. 140 ("Appeal shall lie from the judgment of the superior court as in other civil cases.") It reviews for substantial evidence and errors of law. Ruse v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 138 Wn.2d 1, 5, 977 P.2d 570 (1999) (quoting Young v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 81 Wn. App. 123, 128, 913 P.2d 402 (1996)). The application of an incorrect legal standard is an error of law this Court reviews de novo. Jongeward v. BNSF Ry. Co., 174 Wn.2d 586, 592, 278 P.3d 157 (2012) (citing State v. Breazeale, 144 Wn.2d 829, 837, 31 P.3d 1155 (2001)).

VI. ARGUMENT

Ms. Landon contends the Board and the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over her occupational disease claim because the Department's order addressed only timeliness of the claim, not the merits. This is not an issue of jurisdiction, but one of scope of review.

Ms. Landon never challenged the Board's scope of review or the superior court's scope of review through hearing, Board appeal, or jury trial. Having received an unfavorable verdict, and having failed to raise a scope of review error, she now seeks to avoid the judgment by asserting subject matter jurisdiction.

A. Subject Matter Jurisdiction vs. Scope of Review

Subject matter jurisdiction refers to the category or type of controversy that an agency has authority to decide. Singletary v. Manor Healthcare Corp., 166 Wn. App. 774, 782, 271 P.3d 356, review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1008 (2012). In assessing subject matter jurisdiction, the appropriate focus of the inquiry is whether the "type of controversy" is within the agency's given subject matter jurisdiction. All other errors "go to something other than subject matter jurisdiction." Singletary. 166 Wn. App. at 783 (quoting Dougherty v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 150 Wn.2d 310, 316, 76 P.3d 1183 (2003)). The type of category means "the general category without regard to the facts of the particular case." It refers to a

general power to adjudicate a particular nature of controversy, not a specific case. *Dougherty*, 150 Wn.2d 310.

Under the Industrial Insurance Act, Title 51 RCW, the Board and the courts serve an appellate function in workers' compensation cases. Kingery v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 132 Wn.2d 162, 171, 937 P.2d 565 (1997). The Department enjoys broad subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate all claims for workers' compensation benefits. Marley v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 125 Wn.2d 533, 539-40, 886 P.2d 189 (1994). The Board also enjoys broad subject matter jurisdiction, including express statutory authorization, to review Department actions. RCW 51.52.050(2)(a); Shafer v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 140 Wn. App. 1, 7, 159 P.3d 473 (2007), aff'd, 166 Wn.2d 710, 213 P.3d 591 (2009). In turn, the superior courts have subject matter jurisdiction and express statutory authorization to review appeals from Board decisions. RCW 51.52.050(2) (b), (c). A superior court's authority to determine an issue in a workers' compensation case "depends upon whether or not the Board properly addressed that issue." Hanguet v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 75 Wn. App. 657, 663-64, 879 P.2d 326 (1994), review denied, 125 Wn.2d 1019, 890 P.2d 20 (1995).

The Board has appellate subject matter jurisdiction in all matters relating to industrial insurance as well as other select controversies as may

be specified by the legislature. *Marley*, 125 Wn.2d at 539-40. The Board's subject matter jurisdiction differs from its scope of review. Scope of review limits the issues the Board has authority to consider to those matters already passed upon by the Department. However, the concept is not jurisdictional, per se. *In re Lai Ping-Bazzell*, Dckt. No. 08 10572, 1 (Jan. 20, 2009). If the Board exceeds the scope of review by resolving issues not properly before it, it commits an error of law; such error, however, is not jurisdictional and does not deprive the Board of subject matter jurisdiction. *Matthews v. State Dept. of Labor and Industries*, 171 Wn. App. 477, 288 P.3d 630 (2012), *review denied*, 176 Wn.2d 1026, 301 P.3d 1047 (2013).

In *Matthews*, the Department found the worker willfully misrepresented her ability to work and ordered her to reimburse time loss. A hearing judge ordered an overpayment on a different basis, and the worker challenged the judge's jurisdiction on the grounds that the Department limited its order to willful misrepresentation. The Court of Appeals disagreed with the worker that the Board lacked subject matter jurisdiction, citing the Board's broad authority to review actions by the Department. *Id.* at 490-91. It then proceeded to address if the Board exceeded its scope of review, and found it did not because the worker

submitted a very general notice of appeal and did not limit the issue to that of willful misrepresentation. *Id.* at 492.

The cases cited by Ms. Landon do not support her argument. Lenk v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 3 Wn. App. 977, 982, 478 P.2d 761 (1970) and Hanquet addressed scope of review. In both, the parties had properly raised and challenged the Board's ability to address issues not already passed on by the Department. Neither case addressed subject matter jurisdiction.

Ms. Landon urges the Court to blur the line between scope of review and subject matter jurisdiction. The Board unquestionably had jurisdiction over the Department's order denying her claim for benefits.

B. The Board Has Subject Matter Jurisdiction Over This Occupational Disease Claim.

This occupational disease claim falls squarely within the Board's subject matter jurisdiction. The Department's order denied Ms. Landon's claim based on an untimely filing. CP 50-51. In her Notice of Appeal, Ms. Landon raised the merits of her claim for "occupational disease or infection proximately caused by her employment." CP 52. The parties' stipulation that the issues included timeliness of filing and occurrence of an occupational disease is memorialized in the Proposed Decision and Order. CP 48. The Industrial Appeals Judge (IAJ) found the claim timely,

but concluded on the merits Ms. Landon had not proven her claim for benefits. CP 35. Ms. Landon appealed to the Board, outlining the issues for review as limited to the compensability of an occupational disease. CP 4. She did not allege the IAJ exceeded the permissible scope of review or challenge the conclusion that the Board had jurisdiction over the issues.

At trial, Ms. Landon again characterized the issue as one for an occupational disease. She did not object to the jury instructions or Special Verdict Form which asked the jury if the Board correctly found her "condition is not an occupational disease arising naturally and proximately out of the distinctive conditions of her employment...." CP 384 - 401. RP 343. In fact, she requested and argreed with posing that question. RP 328 - 341.

Although the Department's order denied the claim for benefits on the basis of timeliness, that order vested the Board with broad jurisdiction to review the Department's action. Just as in *Matthews*, the fact the Department issued an order on one basis does not deprive the Board of its ability to determine if the action would otherwise be proper on another basis. It is the Board's power generally to adjudicate the orders of the Department for a claim for benefits that defines its jurisdiction, and it clearly acted within its jurisdiction when it examined the Department's denial of Ms. Landon's claim.

The Board has broad power to review actions by the Department. An agency does not lack subject matter jurisdiction even if it "may lack authority to enter a given order." *Marley* at 539. "The power to decide [a type of controversy] includes the power to decide wrong***". *Id.* at 543; *see e.g. Singletary*, 166 Wn. App. 774, 783-84. Ms. Landon contends the Board made the wrong decision because the Department had not first addressed the merits of the occupational disease claim. Even were this true, this is an issue of scope of review and not one of jurisdiction.

C. Any Issue Regarding Scope of Review Has Been Waived.

Because she failed to raise the issue regarding the Board's authority to review the merits of the occupational disease claim in her June 13, 2013 Petition for Review to the Board, she cannot now raise the issue on appeal. RCW 51.52.104 provides, in part:

After all evidence has been presented at hearings conducted by an industrial appeals judge, who shall be an active or judicial member of the Washington state bar association, the industrial appeals judge shall enter a proposed or recommended decision and order which shall be in writing and shall contain findings and conclusions as to each contested issue of fact and law, as well as the order based thereon. * * * * * Within twenty days, or such further time as the board may allow on written application of a party, filed within said twenty days from the date of communication of the proposed decision and order to the parties or their attorneys or representatives of record, any party may file with the board a written petition for review of the same. Filing of a petition for review is perfected by mailing or personally delivering the petition to the board's

offices in Olympia. Such petition for review shall set forth in detail the grounds therefore and the party or parties filing the same shall be deemed to have waived all objections or irregularities not specifically set forth therein.

Similarly, the Court of Appeals generally does not reach issues that were not presented first to the trial court. RAP 2.5. The reason for these preservation rules is to protect efficient and fair adjudication. It is not efficient to allow a party to go through hearing, Board appeal, and a jury trial without raising an error of law, and then allow that party to escape a jury verdict by raising an error, even if it may be a legitimate error, after the fact. Employer does not agree that the merits of the occupational disease claim were outside the Board's scope of review, particularly as Ms. Landon herself identified the issue in the Notice of Appeal. But that issue is moot. Having failed to raise any concerns over the Board's scope of review, she waived any such irregularities, and presents no valid issue for appellate judicial review.

VII. CONCLUSION

Ms. Landon attempts to raise a scope of review issue, inaccurately characterized as subject matter jurisdiction, for the first time after judgment on a jury verdict. There is no valid subject matter jurisdiction issue before the Court. Ms. Landon waived any scope of review issues below. She failed to enumerate sufficient facts and authority to support an

order disturbing the judgment on jury verdict. Respondent respectfully requests this court deny Ms. Landon's requests for relief.